Case 2024AP000358 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-17-2024 Page 1 of 22

FILED 05-17-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2024AP000358 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BERNABE GONZALEZ

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ANDERSON GANSNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

John Chisholm Milwaukee District Attorney

Kyle J. Elderkin Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1122604

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether an intoxicated driver has a constitutional right to possess a firearm under the Second Amendment.

The circuit court concluded that Wisconsin's law, which criminalizes going armed with a firearm while intoxicated, was not deeply rooted or supported in this nation's historical tradition and was therefore unconstitutional under the Second Amendment.

This Court should reverse.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The brief adequately sets forth this parties' argument, and this Court can resolve this case by applying settled legal principles to the facts.

INTRODUCTION

On February 11, 2023, defendant Bernabe Gonzalez ("Gonzalez") was pulled over by the Milwaukee County Sheriff's Department for running a red light. After detecting signs of possible intoxication, law enforcement conducted standard field sobriety tests. A preliminary breath test netted a result of .104 blood alcohol content. After performing poorly on the field sobriety tests, Gonzalez was issued a citation for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated ("OWI") as a first offense. During the stop of Gonzalez, a 9mm Smith & Wesson handgun was located and recovered in the driver's door of Gonzalez's vehicle for which Mr. Gonzalez had been issued a concealed carry weapons license by the state of Wisconsin.

The State charged Mr. Gonzalez with the misdemeanor offense of possession of a firearm while intoxicated, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b). Mr. Gonzalez ultimately pled guilty to an OWI first offense citation on October 16, 2023 arising out of the same incident. However, Mr. Gonzalez filed a motion to dismiss the criminal possession of a firearm while intoxicated charge on the grounds that the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *New York State Rifle & Pistol Ass'n, Inc. v. Bruen*, 213 L. Ed. 2d 387, 142 S.Ct. 2111, 2162 (2022), invalidated Wisconsin's prohibition on possession of firearms by intoxicated individuals. In a finding that the statute was

unconstitutional, the circuit court granted the defense's motion to dismiss on September 6, 2023 and denied the State's motion for reconsideration on October 16, 2023. The State now seeks review of the circuit court's decision in the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the early morning hours of February 11, 2023, Milwaukee County Sheriff's deputies pulled over Bernabe Gonzalez for running a red traffic signal. (R. 2:1). Law enforcement officers detected signs of possible intoxication and subsequently requested that Mr. Gonzalez perform standard field sobriety tests. (R. 2:1). During the tests, Mr. Gonzalez demonstrated 6 of 6 clues of intoxication on the horizontal gaze nystagmus test, 5 out of 8 clues on the walk and turn test, and 2 out of 4 clues on the one legged stand test. (R. 2:1). Additionally, a preliminary breath test was performed. (R. 2:1). That breath test showed Mr. Gonzalez to have a blood alcohol concentration of 0.104. (R. 2:1). After performing poorly on the field sobriety tests, Mr. Gonzalez received a citation for an OWI first offense. (R. 2:1). A blood draw was subsequently taken. (R. 2:1). Blood results from the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene confirmed that within three hours of Mr. Gonzalez's operation of a motor vehicle, his blood contained 0.118 g/100 mL of ethanol. (R. 2:1).

An inventory search of Gonzalez's car was performed prior to towing. During that search, police recovered a 9mm Smith & Wesson handgun from the driver's side door of Mr. Gonzalez's vehicle. (R. 2:1). Mr. Gonzalez was in possession of a Wisconsin issued concealed carry license that enabled him to lawfully conceal and carry a firearm at the time of this incident. (R. 2:1). However, due to the level of his intoxication, the State charged Mr. Gonzalez with the misdemeanor offense of possession of a firearm while intoxicated, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b). (R. 2:1).

Mr. Gonzalez resolved the OWI citation on October 16, 2023. (R. 21:24). On that date, Mr. Gonzalez entered a guilty plea which was accepted by the circuit court and remains of record. (R. 21:24).

Mr. Gonzalez filed a motion to dismiss the criminal possession of a firearm while intoxicated charge on the grounds that the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *New York State Rifle & Pistol Ass'n, Inc. v. Bruen*, 213 L. Ed. 2d 387, 142 S.Ct. 2111, 2162 (2022), invalidated Wisconsin's prohibition on firearms possession for intoxicated persons.

(R. 6:1-5). The circuit court granted Mr. Gonzalez's motion to dismiss on September 6, 2023. (R. 20:33-34). In reaching its decision, the circuit court noted that the State had a burden to show "distinctly similar" laws from the time of the founding. The circuit court found that the State failed to show "any 18th century or older laws that were distinctly similar to Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b), "as called for by the *Bruen* decision." (R. 20:21).

The State filed a motion for reconsideration on September 16, 2023, raising several arguments that it believed were not fully considered by the circuit court. (R. 11:1-16). Among those were (1) Gonzalez's commission of an OWI offense at the time of the possession, (2) additional historical analogues not previously considered, and (3) State and federal decisions on this issue since *Bruen* was decided. (R. 11:1-16). The State's motion for reconsideration was rejected by the circuit court on October 16, 2023. The State now seeks review of both decisions in the Court of Appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts review a circuit court's decision to resolve a motion to dismiss a complaint de novo. *Data Key Partners v. Permira Advisers LLC*, 2014 WI 86, ¶17, 356 Wis. 2d 665, 849 N.W.2d 693. When the motion to dismiss is based on "[i]nterpretation and application of statutes and case law to a set of facts" appellate courts review those decisions de novo. *Meyers v. Bayer AG*, 2007 WI 99, ¶22, 303 Wis. 2d 295, 735 N.W.2d 448.

ARGUMENT

The Second Amendment right to bear arms for self-defense is not unlimited. *McDonald v. City of Chicago, Ill.*, 561 U.S. 742 (2010). Wisconsin law imposes one such limitation by criminalizing and prohibiting the act of going "armed with a firearm while ... under the influence of an intoxicant." Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b). Wisconsin's prohibition has been in effect since 1883 when § 3, ch. 329, Laws of 1883, was passed. The original statute declared: "It shall be unlawful for any person in a state of intoxication, to go armed with any pistol or revolver".

Over the course of the 140 years following the passage of Wisconsin's prohibition, the law has been deemed to be valid and unreversed in the face of challenges. *See State v. Christen*, 2021 WI 39,

¶ 52, 396 Wis. 2d 705, 732, 958 N.W.2d 746, 759 (finding Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) "does not strike at the core right of the Second Amendment"). However, in 2022, the United States Supreme Court in *Bruen* refined the established test that courts must apply to review laws which limit possession of firearms to individuals. That newly refined test requires courts to determine (1) whether the plain text of the Second Amendment covers the conduct at issue, and (2) whether the State established the regulation as being consistent with the historical tradition of firearm regulation in the United States. *United States v. Posey*, No. 2:22-CR-83 JD, 2023 WL 1869095, at *2 (N.D. Ind. Feb. 9, 2023), citing *Bruen*, 142 S.Ct. at 2129-30.

In creating this test, the Supreme Court imposed a duty on the government to "affirmatively prove that its firearms regulation is part of the historical tradition that delimits the outer bounds of the right to keep and bear arms." *Id.* at 2127. To satisfy this duty, the government must show the use of a "historical analogue." *Id.* at 2132. The *Bruen* court insisted that this requirement compels the State to simply find a historical analogue in the modern law, and did not require a "historical twin." *Id.* at 2133. Indeed, *Bruen* only requires "relevant" similarity. *United States v. Daniels*, 77 F.4th 337, 343 (5th Cir. 2023). "Even if a modern-day regulation is not a dead ringer for historical precursors, it still may be analogous enough to pass constitutional muster." *Bruen*, 142 S.Ct. 2111, 2132 (2022).

In determining whether a law is analogous enough, courts examine "whether modern and historical regulations impose a comparable burden on the right of armed self-defense and whether that burden is comparably justified." *Id.* (quoting *McDonald*, 561 U.S. at 767 (itself quoting *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570, 599 (2008)).

Wisconsin State Statute Section 941.20(1)(b) is valid under the newly revised *Bruen* analysis for three primary reasons. First, the Second Amendment's right to possess a firearm applies to law-abiding citizens for self-defense. Gonzalez was not acting as a law-abiding citizen when this incident occurred because he was operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. That conduct is expressly illegal in the state of Wisconsin. Second, Wisconsin's law is analogous to laws already deemed presumptively lawful. Third, Wisconsin's law is historically analogous to numerous other state laws from the founding and reconstruction eras of this nation's history.

These analogous laws are commonly cited in the many federal cases that have been decided since the *Bruen* decision. Based on the foregoing, this Court should reverse the circuit court's decision.

I. The circuit court erred in granting Gonzalez's motion to dismiss because the Second Amendment Right does not include persons driving a vehicle while intoxicated.

The Second Amendment right of "the people to keep and bear arms" does not apply to all people. *United States v. Verdugo-Urquidez*, 494 U.S. 259, 265 (1990) (holding that "the people' seems to have been a term of art" that was employed during the drafting and ratification of the Constitution); *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 580. The phrase "the people" refers to the "class of persons who are part of a national community or who have otherwise developed sufficient connection with this country to be considered part of that community." *Id*.

The contours of the term, "the people", were defined by the *Heller* Court in the Second Amendment context as "law-abiding, responsible citizens to use arms in defense of hearth and home." *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 635. Thus, the Second Amendment right to bear arms exists only for those people who are (1) law abiding, responsible citizens, (2) in possession of a handgun, (3) in the home. *Id.*, at 635-636.

The right of law abiding citizens to possess a handgun for self-defense was incorporated (applied) against the states two years after *Heller* in the *McDonald*, 561 U.S. 742 (2010), decision. Nonetheless, the discussion pertaining to application of the term, "the people", continued to receive attention. *See United States v. Carpio-Leon*, 701 F.3d 974, 975 (4th Cir. 2012) (stating that "the Second Amendment does not extend to provide protection to illegal aliens, because illegal aliens are not law-abiding members of the political community"), *United States v. Grinage*, JKP-21-399, 2022 WL 17420390, at *5 (W.D. Tex. Dec. 5, 2022) (explaining that *Heller* and *Bruen* establish that convicted felons are not included in "the people" protected by the Second Amendment).

Bruen expanded the Second Amendment analysis to modify the third requirement to include possession of firearms outside of the home as well. Bruen, 142 S.Ct. 2111, 2122 (2022). However, Bruen did not change the requirement pertaining to the application of the first two elements.

Police first encountered Mr. Gonzalez after observing him operate a motor vehicle without paying heed to a red traffic signal. (R. 2:1). After the lawful stop of his vehicle, police made direct contact with Mr. Gonzalez whom they believed to be intoxicated. Standard field sobriety tests and a preliminary breath test led to confirmation of their suspicions. (R. 2:1). Mr. Gonzalez was arrested, and he pled guilty to the OWI offense. (R. 21:24).

Driving drunk is illegal in Wisconsin, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). Operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited blood alcohol concentration above Wisconsin's threshold is also illegal pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). The Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene determined that Mr. Gonzalez's blood contained 0.118 g/100 mL of ethanol. (R. 1:2). When police arrested Mr. Gonzalez for committing an OWI offense in violation of Wisconsin state law, he was not acting as a member of "the people" as the United States Supreme Court has defined the term. Neither should the Second Amendment be construed to protect the conduct of those who choose to drive drunk.

Mr. Gonzalez fell short of meeting the definition of "law-abiding" and "responsible" at the time he possessed a firearm. For that reason, Mr. Gonzalez did not meet the criterion of "the people" for purposes of the Second Amendment. Therefore, the Second Amendment protections cannot extend to Mr. Gonzalez in the same manner as would be extended and applied to protect the rights of law-abiding citizens.

II. Wisconsin's prohibition is analogous in application to other laws found to be presumptively lawful.

Bruen was unable to shed light in its decision on which types of restrictions are deeply rooted in this nation's history and tradition. However, the Court already laid a foundation to that issue in *Heller*. The *Heller* Court did not apply its decision to felons, the mentally ill, and sensitive places:

[N]othing in our opinion should be taken to cast doubt on longstanding prohibitions on the possession of firearms by felons and the mentally ill, or laws forbidding the carrying of firearms in sensitive places such as schools and government buildings, or laws imposing conditions and qualifications on the commercial sale of arms.

Heller, 554 U.S. at 626.

Heller held these types of state regulations to be "presumptively lawful". Its list is not exhaustive. Id., 554 U.S. at 627. In McDonald, Justice Alito repeated those assurances. McDonald, 561 U.S. at 786 (stating: "We made it clear in Heller that our holding did not cast doubt on such longstanding regulatory measures as 'prohibitions on the possession of firearms by felons and the mentally ill"). Justice Kavanaugh reiterated the same language from Heller and McDonald in Bruen, ensuring that states retain authority to regulate the possession of firearms in the hands of the mentally ill. Bruen, 142 S.Ct. at 2162 (concurring opinion). Since Heller, courts seem to universally agree that state regulations on the possession of firearms by the mentally ill are presumptively valid. See, for e.g., State v. Weber, 168 N.E.3d 468 at 487 (Ohio 2020) (DeWine, J., concurring in judgment).

The State urges this Court to consider that many of the same arguments favoring firearms prohibitions for the mentally ill¹ can be likened to the context of intoxicated individuals possessing firearms. *Id.*, at 488-491. The *Weber* court and other courts share in this belief. See *United States v. Veasley*, No. 23-1114, 2024 WL 1649267 (8th Cir. Apr. 17, 2024); *Daniels*, 77 F.4th at 349.

When raised in this case, comparisons between mentally ill and intoxicated individuals were distinguished by the circuit court as such:

The mentally ill, especially those who have been determined to be so ill that they cannot possess a firearm, are significantly impaired. One would assume that we are talking about people who lack the intent required to commit many criminal offenses. And that degree of impairment is not coming close to an intoxicated person whom the law almost always holds responsible for their decisions.

(R. 20:29).

Revisiting the topic, in either circumstance, whether intoxicated or mentally ill, the individual is presumed to be unable to rationally exercise his or her mental faculties, whether that be for a temporary period of time or in a more permanent circumstance.

¹ The use of the term, "mentally ill", is meant to refer to those subject to court ordered restrictions related to their mental capacity.

-

Our legislature deems that intoxicated and mentally ill individuals lack the capacity to bear firearms in a safe and responsible way. In passing firearm prohibitions against intoxicated and mentally ill individuals alike, the legislature focuses on the impairment itself, not the temporal aspect of the impairment. In much the same way that the legislature desires to keep drunk individuals from driving cars, the legislature has also deemed it unsafe for drunk and mentally ill individuals to possess firearms. Said differently, "there seems to be little reason to treat those who are briefly mentally infirm as a result of intoxication differently from those who are permanently mentally infirm as a result of illness or retardation." Volokh, *Implementing the Right to Keep and Bear Arms for Self-Defense: An Analytical Framework and a Research Agenda*, UCLA L.Rev. 1443, 1535 (2009).

Extending this logic further, a similar application extends to drug users under 18 USC § 922, where "habitual drug abusers, like the mentally ill, are more likely to have difficulty exercising self-control, making it dangerous for them to possess deadly firearms." *United States v. Yancey*, 621 F.3d 681, 685 (7th Cir. 2010).

Implicit in this analysis is the notion that Wisconsin's prohibition related to intoxication is far less onerous and restrictive upon a person's Second Amendment right than the prohibition related to the mentally ill. The firearm prohibition for intoxication lasts only for the hours the person is intoxicated, so the prohibition is merely temporary in nature. It follows that intoxication is more akin to a "waiting period" until the human body naturally processes and eliminates the intoxicating substance. An individual is not prohibited from owning a firearm forever; rather, he or she must simply wait until the intoxicated state wanes.

There is also a "control" feature as well. Unlike mental illness, an intoxicated person exercises control. Essentially, an intoxicated person makes a conscious decision to waive his or her Second Amendment right when choosing to drink to the point of intoxication.

This Court may also be persuaded to look to the presumptively lawful "Safe Place" regulations for guidance, as other courts have. *Antonyuk v. Chiumento*, 89 F.4th 271, 367 (2d Cir. 2023), citing *State v. Shelby*, 90 Mo. 302, 2 S.W. 468, 468 (1886) (noting that if the state could constitutionally regulate firearms in "time and place, ... no good

reason is seen why the legislature may not do the same thing with reference to the condition of the person who carries such weapons").

The Wisconsin Legislature's prohibition against intoxicated persons possessing firearms is purposeful and an expression of wisdom. As courts from other jurisdictions have done, the State urges this Court to hold that the prohibition against intoxicated persons possessing firearms be deemed a constitutionally valid regulatory measure.

III. Wisconsin's prohibition on possession of a firearm while intoxicated is historically rooted in this nation's history and tradition.

Wisconsin has a long history and tradition of prohibiting the possession of firearms by intoxicated individuals. Wisconsin's earliest law on the books dates back to 1883, when § 3, ch. 329, Laws of 1883 barred intoxicated individuals from possessing a pistol or a revolver. Other state prohibitions predate Wisconsin. Their laws and history demonstrate that Wisconsin was by no means alone in its restrictions on the possession of firearms by intoxicated individuals.

A. Historical analogues to Wisconsin's intoxicated possession prohibition date back to the seventeenth century.

The earliest restrictions date back to Virginia in 1655, well over a century before the ratification of the United States Constitution. For example, 1655 Va. Acts 401-402, Act XII made it illegal to "shoot any guns at drinking." While the law did create a carveout for marriages and funerals, it also set the bar lower than even intoxication. Acts of Mar. 10, 1655, Act 12, reprinted in 1 The Statutes at Large: Being a Collection of All the Laws of Virginia, From the First Session of the Legislature in the Year 1619, 401-02 (William Waller Henning ed., 1823) (sic). Virginia's law prohibited firing a weapon where any alcohol consumption was involved.

Similarly, New York banned firing guns on New Year's Eve as early as 1771 to prevent "great Damages ... frequently done on [those days] by persons ... with Guns and other Fire Arms and being often intoxicated with Liquor." Ch. 1501, 5 Colonial Laws of New York 244-46 (1894). While these two laws from Virginia and New York are not exact replicas of Wis. Stat. § 921.20(1)(b), the codification of general

principles restricting mixing firearms with alcohol make them historically analogous.

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