Case 2024AP000358 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024

Page 1 of 47

FILED 06-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

No. 2024AP358-CR

In the

Wisconsin Court of Appeals

District I

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BERNABE GONZALEZ, Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County Case No. 2023-CM-1483 The Honorable Anderson M. Gansner Presiding

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

WISCONSIN APPELLATE LITIGATION SERVICES LLC ADAMS LAW GROUP LLC

ANTHONY F. LOCOCO

SBN 1101773

SBN 1067564

13435 Watertown Plank Rd.

DANIEL M. ADAMS

SBN 1067564

1200 E. Capitol Dr.

Ste 5 Ste 360

Elm Grove, WI 53122 Milwaukee, WI 53211

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

The result is not changed by the fact that the State tried to supplement the record for appeal with a post-decision motion containing new arguments, regardless of whether the motion below is considered as one for reconsideration or one for relief from judgment under § 806.07(1)(h).

Beginning with the former, a motion for reconsideration requires a movant to present "either newly discovered evidence or establish a manifest error of law or fact." *Koepsell's Olde Popcorn Wagons, Inc. v. Koepsell's Festival Popcorn Wagons, Ltd.*, 2004 WI App 129, ¶44, 275 Wis. 2d 397, 685 N.W.2d 853. The State presented neither below (and did not attempt to do so). To be clear, "manifest error" of law means "the "wholesale disregard, misapplication, or failure to recognize controlling precedent." *Id.* (quoting *Oto v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 224 F.3d 601, 606

Case 2024AP000358 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 23 of 47

(7th Cir.2000)). No new controlling precedent was cited by the State, just new arguments under the controlling precedent that the Circuit Court had already exhaustively discussed. But it is black letter law that new arguments that could have been offered earlier cannot be made in a motion for reconsideration. See, e.g., Lynch v. Crossroads Counseling Ctr., Inc., 2004 WI App 114, ¶23, 275 Wis. 2d 171, 684 N.W.2d 141 (summary judgment context). Likewise, a litigant may not "resurrect an issue laid to rest by virtue of waiver, abandonment, stipulation or concession under the guise of reconsideration." Matter of Estate of O'Neill, 186 Wis. 2d 229, 235, 519 N.W.2d 750. This rule

provides finality as to orders or judgments rendered by the court and promotes judicial economy by requiring arguments to be presented at the time scheduled in the litigation, except in extreme circumstances. Any injustice this rule affords litigants is justified by these public policy concerns as well as the knowledge that the litigants affected brought about the situation through their own neglect and inaction.

Id.

This may be why the State cited Wis. Stat. § 806.07(1)(h) in its motion, which is not a reconsideration statute but instead allows a Court to "relieve a party or legal representative from a judgment, order or stipulation" for "[a]ny other reasons [besides those enumerated in (a)-(g)] justifying relief from the operation of the judgment." But Wis. Stat. § 806.07 is a civil procedure statute, see Wis. Stat. ch. 806 ("Civil Procedure — Judgment"), and the State has never explained why it would apply here. Indeed, in State v. Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶70, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin held that § 806.07(1)(h) is unavailable to criminal defendants in light of the postconviction procedures specified in the criminal procedure statutes. See Wis. Stat. §§ 974.02, 974.06. Yet the criminal procedure statutes also

set forth procedures for the State following an adverse decision. See Wis. Stat. \S 974.05. 3

Even assuming that this statute applies in the criminal context (and it does not), (1)(h) applies where there are "[u]nique and extraordinary circumstances," *i.e.* those where "the sanctity of the final judgment is outweighed by 'the incessant command of the court's conscience that justice be done in light of *all* the facts." *Sukala v. Heritage Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2005 WI 83, ¶¶11-13, 282 Wis. 2d 46, 698 N.W.2d 610 (quoting *Mogged v. Mogged*, 2000 WI App 39, ¶13, 233 Wis.2d 90, 607 N.W.2d 662).

Below, the State did not even try to offer justification for its "neglect and inaction," *O'Neill*, 186 Wis. 2d at 235, even though it was its burden to do so, *see, e.g., Miller v. Hanover Ins. Co.*, 2010 WI 75, ¶34, 326 Wis. 2d 640, 785 N.W.2d 493, and the Circuit Court understandably found that "the State has not presented anything close to extraordinary circumstances justifying relief from judgement here." R. 21:21. In its initial brief the State does not argue this finding was incorrect, thereby forfeiting or waiving any challenge to the ruling that (1)(h) was not met.

O'Neill is highly analogous to this case. In O'Neill the movant failed to appear at a will construction hearing and offer argument. O'Neill, 186 Wis. 2d at 231. He thereafter belatedly sought the opportunity to present an argument, citing both Wis. Stat. § 806.07(1)(a) (a different ground under the same relief-from-judgment statute) and Wis. Stat. § 805.17(3) (which permits reconsideration following civil trial). Id. at 231, 234. This Court explained that reconsideration was not

³ As respondent, Mr. Gonzalez may advance any theory or reasoning justifying sustaining the Circuit Court's final order, even though Mr. Gonzalez was not given an opportunity to present it below. *See, e.g., Holt,* 128 Wis. 2d at 124-25.

available because "reconsideration assumes that the question has previously been considered." *Id.* at 234. Under § 806.07(1)(a), in contrast, a showing of "excusable neglect" was required to obtain relief from the judgment under sub. (1)(a), and the movant had not argued on appeal that the Circuit Court's finding that neglect was inexcusable was erroneous. *Id.* at 235. Relief was therefore unavailable, as it is here. *See id.*

In sum, the State is wholly barred from advancing its novel "people" argument before this Court.⁴

B. The Second Amendment's scope plainly encompasses Mr. Gonzalez' conduct.

Although Mr. Gonzalez should not have to devote briefing space to a clearly-forfeited issue, he will briefly do so out of an abundance of caution. The State's contention that he is not one of "the people" contemplated by the Second Amendment for purposes of this case is meritless.

For starters, the State's argument is undeveloped. To the extent the State means to argue that the "plain text" of the phrase "the people" in the Second Amendment does not cover intoxicated individuals (or intoxicated drivers), *Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 17, it offers *no* textual or

_

⁴ Mr. Gonzalez objects to any justifications the State may attempt to offer in reply for overlooking forfeiture or reversing the Circuit Court's ruling on its Wis. Stat. § 806.07(1)(h) motion. The State was required to provide those justifications in its initial brief so that Mr. Gonzalez could fairly respond to them in this one but chose to take the approach of not acknowledging that it had forfeited the argument. See Bilda v. Cnty. of Milwaukee, 2006 WI App 57, ¶20 n.7, 292 Wis. 2d 212, 713 N.W.2d 661 (this Court does not consider arguments first raised in reply) Regardless, this is not the rare case in which overlooking forfeiture might be appropriate. That Mr. Gonzalez is not a felon and never even touched the gun at issue makes this case an "outlier." R. 20:33. With Mr. Gonzalez' liberty at stake, the State should not be rewarded for entirely failing to prosecute its case below.

Case 2024AP000358 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 26 of 47

historical evidence of that fact, despite the Supreme Court's admonition that it is text and history that matter in Second Amendment analyses, and not any "judge-empowering interest-balancing inquiry." *Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 22 (quoting *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 634); see also id. ("Whether it came to defining the character of the right (individual or militia dependent), suggesting the outer limits of the right, or assessing the constitutionality of a particular regulation, *Heller* relied on text and history.").

Instead the State relies solely on general references by the Supreme Court to the fact that the Second Amendment applies to "lawabiding, responsible citizens," State's Br. 11 (quoting *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 635), apparently asking this Court to interpret this phrase to mean that the commission by a citizen of *any* offense—*even* (as here) one that is not a felony or misdemeanor—removes the protection of the Second Amendment.

It's not hard to see the absurdity of this argument. The *Heller* Court *did* note that "nothing in our opinion should be taken to cast doubt on longstanding prohibitions on the possession of firearms by felons" (which is not the same as saying those measures are always constitutional), *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 626, but never said anything about regulation of those who commit *misdemeanors*, much less *non-criminal* offenses. Under the State's theory, may those who impede traffic by slow speeds, Wis. Stat. § 346.60(1), or fail to yield to a pedestrian at an uncontrolled intersection, § 346.30(2), or, for that matter, litter, § 287.81(2), or refuse to present their bus fare when requested, § 943.225(2), now be criminally charged for endangering safety by use of a

Case 2024AP000358 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 27 of 47

dangerous weapon if they do so while carrying or near a permitted weapon?

Mr. Gonzalez' response is not meant to minimize the importance of staying away from the wheel of a car while intoxicated. But the State's heretofore undiscovered constitutional loophole for excluding citizens from the meaning of "people" is staggering in scope. Surely the State must offer some kind of authority in support of its claimed exception beyond the Supreme Court's cursory statements that the Second Amendment applies to the "law-abiding" and "responsible." *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 635. In the context of *Heller* and its progeny, this phrase is obviously meant to leave space for those "longstanding prohibitions" *Heller* referenced, like restrictions on "felons and the mentally ill," *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 626—not to authorize the government to confiscate firearms from anyone who has ever broken a law, a restriction (unlike those *Heller* explicitly mentioned) with no apparent precedent.

The two non-binding cases the State cites are in accord. See United State v. Grinage, No. SA-21-CR-399-JKP, 2022 WL 17420390, at *5 (W.D. Tex. Dec. 5, 2022) (mentioning the "convicted felons" limitation); United States v. Carpio-Leon, 701 F.3d 974, 975, 981 (4th Cir. 2012) (in ruling that "illegal aliens" are not "law-abiding members of the political community," carefully noting it was "not hold[ing] that any person committing any crime" (much less a non-criminal offense) "automatically loses the protection of the Second Amendment" and instead relying in part on "illegal aliens['] . . . particular relationship to the United States").

Mr. Gonzalez, a U.S. citizen and CCW permit holder with no prior felonies, *see* R. 21:6, retains the protection of the Second Amendment, notwithstanding his OWI-first no-contest plea.

Case 2024AP000358 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 28 of 47

III. The State failed to meet its burden to show that criminalizing constructive, intoxicated possession of a properly-permitted firearm is consistent with this Nation's historical tradition of firearm regulation.

The Circuit Court correctly recognized that this case hinges on whether the State could meet its burden to show that its application of Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) comported with the country's historical tradition of firearm regulation. R. 20:16. But the State offered virtually no historical argument during briefing, forfeiting what it tries to assert now. In any event, none of its arguments come close to justifying application of the law.

A. The State forfeited the historical arguments it now attempts to make and the Circuit Court's exhaustive independent research does not cure the State's forfeiture.

During the actual briefing of Mr. Gonzalez' motion to dismiss, the State did not offer any argument, as required by Supreme Court precedent, attempting to show Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b)'s consistency with this Nation's historical tradition of firearm regulation. *See Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 33-34; R. 8; R. 20:20.

With two possible exceptions discussed below, the State made all of its historical arguments for the first time in its post-decision "Motion for Reconsideration" (which was a motion for relief from the judgment under Wis. Stat. § 806.07). R.11. Mr. Gonzalez respectfully refers this Court to its earlier discussion of why new arguments cannot be made in such a motion, why the motion itself was not authorized by § 806.07(1)(h) in a criminal case, why the (1)(h) standard was not met anyway, and why the State should not now be permitted to offer new arguments against forfeiture in its reply brief. *See supra* Section IIA. That discussion fully applies here.

Case 2024AP000358 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 29 of 47

The State may nevertheless argue that its forfeiture was cured because the Circuit Court itself raised many of these arguments in its September oral ruling (which followed briefing but preceded the State's motion). With all due respect to the Circuit Court, its extensive independent research was improper and cannot save the State here. The Circuit Court confirmed on the record that the State had "not even tried to present this court with any meaningful historical analogues" and asked "how much work [it] should do for the State." R. 20:20-21. Noting that it appreciated "the State is very busy" the Court explained that "as a fairly new judge, [it] was uncomfortable" concluding that "if the State fails to carry [its] burden, so be it," rejected Mr. Gonzalez' objections, and proceeded to do all the work for the State. R. 20:20-21.

This approach violates Wisconsin precedent. "The opinions of our appellate courts are replete with precatory admonitions that trial judges must not function as partisans or advocates or betray bias or prejudice...." State v. Carprue, 2004 WI 111, ¶44, 274 Wis. 2d 656, 683 N.W.2d 31 (citations omitted). State v. Jiles is instructive. There the State was woefully underprepared for a hearing on a motion challenging the admissibility of the defendant's confession and in response "the circuit judge intervened and assumed the State's burden of establishing the existence of proper Miranda warnings and voluntariness." 2003 WI 66, ¶38, 262 Wis. 2d 457, 663 N.W.2d 798. Writing that it was "disturbed by the disregard of established procedure that we see in the record," the Supreme Court unanimously declared that in fact "the State did not meet its burden of proof," reversed, and warned circuit courts that they may not "permit [themselves] to become a witness or an advocate for one party." Id. at ¶39.

Consistent with *Jiles*, the Circuit Court should have simply found that the State failed to meet its burden and left its historical analysis for a case where the State was ready to attempt to meet its obligation. That being so, the State cannot be permitted to assert historical arguments on appeal that are only in the record by virtue of the Circuit Court's improper undertaking to do "work" for the State. Those arguments are forfeited. *See, e.g., Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d at 826.

Similarly, given that the State was not permitted to make new arguments in its Motion for Reconsideration for reasons already discussed, the Court's comments on those arguments at the October hearing for purposes of its conclusion that "extraordinary circumstances justifying relief from judgment" were not present, R. 21:21, likewise provide no basis for the State to attempt to reassert those arguments here. *See O'Neill*, 186 Wis. 2d at 253.

As noted above, there were two possible exceptions to the State's decision to raise all historical arguments in its post-decision motion. First, during the August 2024 oral argument on the motion to dismiss, the State "for the first time offered one historical argument, simply stating that the law in question has existed in some form since 1883 and has not been challenged or declared unconstitutional." R. 20:11.5 The

_

⁵ For reasons unknown to Mr. Gonzalez, the State did not request a transcript of this hearing for its appeal and one does not appear in the record. "It is the appellant's responsibility to ensure completion of the appellate record and 'when an appellate record is incomplete in connection with an issue raised by the appellant, we must assume that the missing material supports the trial court's ruling." *State v. McAttee*, 2001 WI App 262, ¶5 n.1, 248 Wis. 2d 865, 637 N.W.2d 774 (quoting *Fiumefreddo v. McLean*, 174 Wis. 2d 10, 26-27, 496 N.W.2d 226 (Ct. App. 1993)).

Circuit Court rejected this argument for multiple reasons and the State appears to have abandoned it on this appeal.⁶

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